Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-21-2017

Hansen v. White Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45185

III. STATEMENT OF CASE

(i) Nature of Case

This is an appeal from the Final Judgment issued by District Judge Dane H. Watkins on May 5, 2017. On May 10, 2016, Plaintiff Melanie Hansen filed a civil lawsuit against Defendant Gary White in Bonneville County District Court for bodily injury damages caused by his negligence in crashing into the back of her vehicle. Defendant filed a motion to dismiss on the grounds that Plaintiff's complaint was not timely served within a (6) month period pursuant to I.R.C.P. 4(b)(2).

(ii) Course Proceedings

Plaintiff filed suit against Defendant on May 10, 2016. Defendant filed a special appearance on November 21, 2016 and therewith also filed Motion to Dismiss for lack of service. On December 12, 2016 Plaintiff filed a Response to Motion to Dismiss and a Motion to Extend Time for Service By Publication supported by memorandum and four Affidavits. On January 13, 2017 the District Court found that good cause existed for failure to timely serve and granted Plaintiff's Motion for Service by Publication. Publication was initiated on January 19, 2017 and completed on February 9, 2017. On January 31, 2017, Defendant filed Motion for Reconsideration again arguing a failure to timely serve. The Court reviewed its previous decision and On May 5, 2017 reversed by entering an Order of Dismissal Without Prejudice and Final Judgment. *R., p. 157* The Court did not provide a memorandum decision. Plaintiff timely filed a Notice of Appeal on May 25, 2017.

DOCKET 45185 APPELLANT'S BRIEF 1

(iii) Statement of Facts

The underlying cause of action is a car crash caused by negligence. Melanie Hansen was stopped at a stop light on S. Yellowstone Highway in Idaho Falls when hit from behind by Gary E. White on May 23, 2014. She suffered physical injury as a result. A Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial was timely filed on May 10, 2016. On October 19, 2016, Plaintiff hired process servers, Marc and MerriLee Jorgensen of Bulldog Legal Services, to serve Defendant at his stated address as recorded in the Idaho Falls Police Vehicle Collision Report (hereafter referred to as the "Police report"). That specific address was 613 E. 750 N. Firth, Idaho 83236 (hereafter referred to as the "Firth" address).

On October 25, 2016, process server Marc Jorgensen went to the Firth address. He was met at the door by Jeremy White who identified himself as Defendant Gary White's son. He informed Mr. Jorgenson that he had purchased the home from his father who had not lived there for "at least 10 years." *R., p. 46* Jeremy White also stated that he did not know where his father lived but "thinks it may be in Mesquite, Nevada." *R., p. 44, 46, 54* This was the best information available as to Mr. White's whereabouts.

Given Defendant's absence from the state, Plaintiff's legal assistant affirmed through affidavit that she performed an internet search to determine where Defendant might be:

On October 24, 2016 I spent (1.5) hours on my computer searching for Defendant. I did a Google search of "Gary E. White," "Gary E. White Mesquite Nevada," and "Gary E. White Idaho;" and each time I clicked on all plausible result links, specifically: PeopleFinders.com, LinkedIn.com, BeenVerified.com, Whitepages.com, Facebook.com and Pipl.com. The closest I got was that a "Gary E. White" (who would have been of the correct age) had a Post Office Box in Macks Inn, Idaho. However, I could not locate Defendant's physical whereabouts. On October 24, 2016, I informed Mr. McBride that Defendant was not located and he instructed me to publish the Summons. *R., p. 72, 73*

In addition, Plaintiff sought assistance from Defendant's Insurer, Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company:

On October 26, I faxed a letter to Farm Bureau (Idaho Falls office) to Tyler Pincock's attention with the purpose of finding out who the correct adjuster was as well as (and in addition to my other efforts) to find the Defendant. As I did not receive any kind of response, I made a follow up call to Mr. Pincock on October 31, 2016. He was unavailable and so I left a voicemail for him. On November 8, 2016 I still had not heard back from Farm Bureau so I called Mr. Pincock again and was able to speak with him. While we were on the phone, he looked in the Farm Bureau notes system and informed me that the adjuster on the case was Amber Tubb and that there was indeed an open claim. I told Mr. Pincock that we were having trouble locating Gary White. Mr. Pincock informed me that Farm Bureau already had a copy of the Complaint and Summons because Natalie White (Defendant's daughter-in-law) had delivered it to their office. I thought Farm Bureau had accepted service. R., p. 73

When no address, aside from the Firth address, was found, Plaintiff made an attempt to serve Defendant by publication starting on November 1, 2016. Publication was completed on November 28, 2016. *R., p. 59* However, Plaintiff had not previously obtained a court order to serve by publication as required by I.C. § 5-508. This was innocent oversight. Notwithstanding this attempt and not knowing whether Defendant had any legitimate residence or "dwelling" anywhere in Idaho or Nevada, Plaintiff instructed her process server to return to the Firth address to serve the complaint. On November 2, 2016, eight days before the 6 month limitation, Ms. Jorgenson was met at the door by Defendant's daughter-in-law, Natalie White. Ms. Jorgenson left the Complaint and Summons with Natalie on the premise that this was Defendant White's best known "dwelling." *R., p. 44*

After the crash on May 23, 2014, Defendant admits he spoke with Officer Barker and

gave him his driver license and insurance information. *R.*, *p. 122* During this conversation, Officer Barker affirmed the following:

... [Defendant] provided his driver's license to me and I copied from that license, or verbally obtained the address of 613 E. 750 N. Firth Idaho 83236 as his current physical address ... I copied this information to my Collision Report ... I also asked [Defendant] and he said this was his address. R., p. 34 [emphasis added]

Defendant did **not** tell Officer Barker that sometime before May 23, 2014, he had moved and was living elsewhere. Eventually, in April 2016, Defendant relocated to 3640 Hickory Court in Idaho Falls yet he still maintained his Firth address. *R., p. 140, 156* Over two years later, on October 20, 2016, Defendant filed a change of address with the U.S. Postal Service showing his relocation to 590 W. Mesquite Blvd., Mesquite, Nevada. *R., p. 153, 156* This was the first and only time Defendant notified any government entity of his relocation to Nevada.

Defendant's vehicle involved in the accident on May 23, 2014 was a 2008 Black GMC pickup truck with license plate number 4B 6135. *R., p. 37* Bingham County is signified by '4B.' Firth, Idaho is in Bingham County. As of January 2017, after the court extended time for service, Plaintiff made another attempt to find Defendant. Process server Marc Jorgensen engaged in skip trace search including Idaho Department of Motor Vehicles ("DMV") website data, (*R., p. 142, 146*) and found that Defendant's current registration on his GMC truck with 4B 6135 license plates was still registered to his Firth address. Further, Plaintiff found Defendant's ITD Driver License Record Report dated January 10, 2017 (with a driver license issue date of August 10, 2008 and an expiration date of August 10, 2016) with Defendant's address as P.O. Box 352, Firth, Idaho 83236. *R., p. 140*

Defendant, despite having moved from his Firth address as early as 2006, **never** updated his address on his driver license as mandated by I.C. § 49-320. Further, he violated I.C. § 49-

IV. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did Plaintiff-Appellant timely serve Defendant-Respondent on his declared address (dwelling) in Firth, Idaho?
- 2. Does Defendant-Respondent's declaration of multiple addresses in Idaho and Nevada constitute de facto evasion of service and thus provide 'good cause' for Plaintiff's failure to serve within (6) months?
- 3. Is Defendant-Respondent barred by "equitable estoppel" from asserting a residence in Nevada when during all pertinent time frames he declared his residence in Firth, Idaho?

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for "good cause" was articulated in the case of in *Elliot vs. Verska* 152 Idaho 280, 285; 271 P.3d 678, 683 (2012) referencing *Sammis v. Magnetek, Inc.*, 130 Idaho 342, 346; 941 P.2d at 318 (1997):

... [I]t is clear that the determination of whether good cause exists is a factual one. Because this is a factual determination, the appropriate standard of review is the same as that used to review an order granting summary judgment . . . [W]e must liberally construe the record in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and must draw all reasonable inferences in that party's favor.

VI. ARGUMENT

1. PLAINTIFF DID TIMELY SERVE DEFENDANT AT HIS DECLARED FIRTH ADDRESS WITHIN THE REQUISITE (6) MONTHS.

Service upon individuals is required in I.R.C.P. 4(d)(1):

An individual . . . may be served by doing any of the following: delivering a copy of the summons and of the complaint to the individual personally; or leaving a copy of each at the individual's dwelling or usual place of abode with someone at least 18 years old who resides there . . .

Procedurally, I.C.R.P. 4(b)(2) "Time for Service" requires:

If a defendant is not served within 6 months after the complaint is filed, the court, on motion or on its own after 14 days' notice to the plaintiff, must dismiss the action without prejudice against that defendant. But if the plaintiff shows good cause for the failure, the court must extend the time for service for an appropriate period.

Plaintiff's process server, Marc Jorgenson was provided a summons and complaint on October 19, 2016 with the instruction to serve Defendant at his declared address in Firth as found on the Police report. On October 25, 2016, Mr. Jorgensen went to the Firth address. He was met at the door by Defendant's son, Jeremy White and was advised that Defendant had not lived there for at least (10) years. The best known address according to Jeremy was that Defendant had moved to Mesquite, Nevada. Based upon those facts, Plaintiff's legal assistant searched the internet for (1.5) hours trying to find Gary E. White, in the Firth, Idaho Falls and Mesquite areas all to no avail. In other words, it was not known whether Defendant had any "usual place of abode" or multiple "abodes." Consequently, Plaintiff's Process Server was instructed to return to the Firth address, and on November 2, 2016 served Natalie White, Defendant's daughter-in-law. *R., p. 22, 23* Ms. White accepted service but reaffirmed that Defendant did not live there and

DOCKET 45185 APPELLANT'S BRIEF Page 6

had not lived there since 2009. *R.*, *p.* 23 Defendant's first affidavit corroborates that fact, confirming his departure from Firth in 2009, five years before the car crash with Plaintiff. *R.*, *p.* 18

It is Plaintiff's contention, that for purposes of service, Defendant must have some "dwelling or usual place of abode." He cannot simply be 'airborne' and without one. Plaintiff asserts that Defendant's declarations and representations to the State of Idaho Transportation Department and to investigating Officer Barker on May 23, 2014 constitute an affirmation of his current and correct "dwelling" or "usual place of abode" in Firth. It is undisputed that on said date, Defendant provided his Idaho driver license to Office Barker and he recorded Defendant's Firth address in the Police report. *R., p. 33, 34* Plaintiff then relied on this information to start the service process and made an attempt on October 25, 2016.

Plaintiff asserts that Defendant's declaration to State agencies and an Idaho Falls Police officer that he "resides" at his Firth address, absent any other acknowledgment, becomes his residence or "dwelling." In other words, he can run but he cannot hide. In Defendant's second affidavit dated January 30, 2017, supporting his Motion For Reconsideration, he asserts that in April 2016 he relocated to 3640 Hickory Court in Idaho Falls. *R., p. 122* Significantly though, he chose to not inform the District Court where he was residing at the time of the accident on May 23, 2014, nor where he lived after leaving Firth and before arriving at the Hickory Court address. What is known is that he moved at least three times before November 2016: once from Firth in 2009 to unknown location(s); then to 3640 Hickory Court, Idaho Falls in April 2016, and finally from Idaho Falls to Mesquite in October 2016, all the while keeping his driver license resident address in Firth and keeping his 2008 GMC truck (the one involved in the crash) registered in Firth. *R., p. 140* Never once, contrary to Idaho law, did he notify the DMV of his

whereabouts. Idaho Code §49-320 requires:

It is the responsibility of every licensed driver and every person applying for a driver's license to keep a **current address** on file with the department. (1) Whenever any person after applying for or receiving a driver's license shall move from the **address shown** in the application or in the driver's license issued, that person **shall**, within thirty (30) days, notify the department in writing of the old and new addresses

(3) It is an infraction for any person to fail to notify the department of a change of address as required by the provisions of subsection (1) of this section. [emphasis added]

Further, a physical resident address is mandated by I.C. § 49-401(B)(5):

Every owner of a vehicle registered by a county assessor shall give his physical domicile residence address or the business address or the physical principal address to the assessor so that the proper county can be entered upon the registration. Failure to do so shall be unlawful . . . For the purposes of vehicle registration, a person is an actual and permanent resident of the county in which he has his principal residence or domicile. A principal residence or domicile shall not be a person's workplace, vacation or part-time residence. [emphasis added]

Finally, as to vehicle registration requirements, Idaho Code §49-421 reads:

REGISTRATION CARDS. (1) Upon registration of a vehicle, the registering agency shall issue to the owner, as defined in section §49-116(3), Idaho Code, a registration card which shall contain the date, the name and the address of the owner, a description of the registered vehicle, identification number and any other information the department may require (3) Upon a change of address the registrant shall report such change to the county assessor's office or the department within (30) days following the change of address. (4) It is an infraction for any person to fail to notify the department of a change of address as required by the provisions of subsection (3) of this section. [emphasis added]

Registration Notices (forms) are sent to owners for vehicles annually by regular mail. This notice includes the requirement to change address as applicable and provides specific information on how to obtain and fill out a form. An example of notice and a form is contained in the record. *R.*, *p. 137*, *138* The record is void of information as to why Defendant selected not to submit an address change. Moreover, he does not dispute that he received registration notices relating to his 2008 GMC truck at his Firth address.

Despite all this, if Defendant still insists that his Firth address was not his "usual place of abode," then he has some explaining to do. On May 23, 2104, he presented his license and registration to Officer Barker, asserting that Firth was his address. If this address was not correct and current, he was in violation of I.C. § 18-5413 which reads:

(1) A person is guilty of a misdemeanor if he **knowingly** gives or causes to be given false information to any law enforcement officer . . . concerning the commission of an **offense** . . . [emphasis added]

Appellant alleges an "offense" includes I.C. § 49-638 Driving – Following Too Closely and I.C. § 49-1401 –Inattentive Driving which were "contributing circumstances" in causing the car crash according to Officer Barker's Police Report. *R., p. 48* In giving his license and address verbally to Officer Barker knowing it was incorrect, Defendant gave "false information."

The foregoing statutes carry penalties and underscore the import of a current and correct residential reporting. The State **must** have an accurate resident name and address on file to provide driver licenses, proof of registration documents, license plate stickers and notices regarding driving privilege status. Providing said items to an Idaho driver at his resident address on file is required by Idaho Code §49-320(2) and constitutes the State's providing "all the legal notice that is required":

(2) Whenever any statute or rule requires a driver to receive notice of any official action with regard to the person's driver license or driving privileges taken or proposed by a court or the department, notification by first class mail at the address shown on the application for driver's license or at the address shown on the driver license or at the address given by the driver, shall constitute all the legal notice that is required.

It follows then, if Defendant declares his address or 'primary physical residence' at Firth to State and City officials, including Idaho Falls City Police, then he is bound to it. Service should be deemed complete when the Complaint and Summons were left with Defendant's daughter-in-law, Natalie White, on November 2, 2016. The District Court erred when it did not so find.

2. <u>DEFENDANT'S STATUTORY VIOLATION IN FAILURE TO CHANGE ADDRESS SHOULD BE CONSIDERED AN EVASION OF PROCESS AND 'GOOD CAUSE' FOR PLAINTIFF NOT COMPLETING PERSONAL SERVICE WITHIN (6) MONTHS.</u>

This court has discussed the standard of "good cause" as follows:

[T]he determination of whether good cause exists is a factual one." *Sammis v. Magnetek, Inc.*, 130 Idaho 342, 346; 941 P.2d 314, 319 (1997)

[The court] must consider the totality of the circumstances, to determine whether the plaintiff had a legitimate reason for not serving the defendant with a copy of the state complaint during the relevant time period. *Nerco Minerals Co. v Morrison Knudsen Corp.*, 132 Idaho 531, 534; 976 P.2d 457, 460 (1999)

The burden is on the party who failed to effect timely service to demonstrate good cause. *Martin v. Hoblit*, 133 Idaho 372, 375; 987 P.2d 284, 287 (1999)

Courts look to factors outside of the plaintiff's control including sudden illness, natural catastrophe, or evasion of service of process. *Harrison v. Bd. Of Prof'l Discipline of Idaho State Board of Med.*, 145 Idaho 179, 183; 177 P.3d 393, 397 (2008)

A review of prior Idaho cases show fact patterns not constituting "good cause" for failure to serve. This includes arguments of mailing copies of the complaint and summons to Defendant's home (*Campbell v. Reagan*, 144 Idaho 254; 159 P3d 891 (2007)); settlement negotiations with Defendant's insurer (*Martin v. Hoblit*, 133 Idaho 372; 987 P.2d 284, (1999)); pending proceedings before the pre-litigation panel (*Rudd v. Merritt*, 138 Idaho 526; 66 P.3d 230 (2003)); the placement of papers at Defendant's office (*Elliot v. Verska*, 152 Idaho 280; 271 P.3d 678 (2012)).

In stark contrast to these fact patterns, this case presents facts of evasion in that

Defendant had "no usual place of abode" or in the alternative, had multiple residences including
his Firth address. Plaintiff argues that under these circumstances, her "failure" to find and
personally serve Defendant within (6) month time limit is excused.

Had Defendant complied with the law, his current address would have been reflected on his driver license and vehicle registration when presented to Officer Barker on May 23, 2014. Had Defendant provided his current address (if indeed he had one), Plaintiff would have made easy work in providing individual and timely service of the complaint on or about October 25, 2016 or soon thereafter. Process server, Marc Jorgenson's experience confirms his reliance on a correct address filings with the DMV:

One of the 'people' locating search tools I use is "Access Idaho" which is a subcontractor to Idaho Department of Transportation. This permits me to obtain addresses associated with vehicles registered in Idaho based on plate and VIN#... By using this tool I found that Gary White had no vehicles registered at 3640 Hickory Court Idaho

Falls address. I did find a GMC truck with a license plate of #4B 6135 which was still registered to Gary E. White in Firth, Idaho. . . . [I]t is my professional opinion, based on my experience that the Idaho Department of Transportation and Department of Motor Vehicles records yield a current accurate Idaho address location for a person living within Idaho. R., p. 142

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