Uldaho Law **Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-18-2017

Hansen v. White Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45185

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

Similarly, in the present case, Ms. Hansen attempts to excuse her lack of proper service on the fact that Mr. White had moved from the address listed in the police report. This is the same argument that was made in the *Hincks* case that the Idaho Supreme Court rejected. As in *Hincks* and as shown above, Ms. Hansen failed to use diligent efforts to serve Mr. White. Ms. Hansen cannot rely on the address listed on a police report in failing to diligently attempt to serve Mr. White.

(iii) Facts Deemed Irrelevant to Good Cause Determination

The Idaho Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have made several decisions setting forth factors that are irrelevant to the inquiry as to whether plaintiffs have good cause for failure to timely serve. These factors are worth noting considering some of the facts and arguments made by Ms. Hansen in her briefing before the District Court and on appeal.

(a) Status of Litigant

The Idaho Supreme Court has stated that the status of a litigant does not, "excuse parties from adhering to procedural rules, even though they may be unaware of such requirements." *Elliot v. Verska*, 152 Idaho 280, 288-289 (2012); citing: *Sammis v. Magnetek, Inc.*, 130 Idaho 342, 346, 941 P.2d 314, 318 (1997). This holding is significant in this matter as Ms. Hansen's counsel presented facts that his assistant, Kristen Walker, was unaware of procedural requirements

regarding timely service and the procedural remedies of obtaining an order for service by publication or for extension of time for service. If *pro se* litigants are not excused from procedural requirements due to inexperience and lack of knowledge, then it should follow that a legal assistant working directly under a licensed attorney should not be excused for their lack of knowledge or expertise. The Supreme Court has specifically held that an "attorney's inexperience and unawareness of the proper procedures did not constitute good cause." *Naranjo v. Idaho Dept. of Correction*, 151 Idaho 916, 922 (2011). Therefore, Ms. Hansen, Ms. Walker and Mr. McBride should all be held to the same standard of performance and diligence that any competent licensed attorney would be held to under the same circumstances. Any facts suggesting lack of knowledge or experience as constituting good cause should be disregarded by this Court.

(b) Effect of Ruling on Ultimate Outcome of Plaintiff's Case

In *Elliot*, the Supreme Court quoting another case found that, "the running of the statute of limitations and the subsequent time-bar to refiling the action is not a factor to be considered in determining whether good cause exists under Rule 4(a)(2)" *Elliot* at 289; quoting: *Sammis* at 347, 941 P.2d at 319. Based upon the above ruling, the impact this Court's ruling will have on the outcome of the merits of the case is not relevant to the consideration of good cause. Even in the case where a dismissal of the action will effectively eliminate Ms. Hansen's cause of action, the Supreme Court does not allow that fact to be a factor in determining good cause.

(c) Mr. White's Knowledge and Actions that do not affect Ms. Hansen's Ability to Effect Service

The Idaho Supreme Court in various holdings has consistently found that a defendant's knowledge and actions that do not directly effect a plaintiff's ability to effect service are not relevant to a good cause inquiry. Specifically, the Supreme Court has held that lack of prejudice to the

defendant, the defendant's knowledge of the complaint, settlement negotiations and even participation by defendant in a pre-litigation screening panel are not relevant to the question of whether good cause exists. *Elliot v. Verska*, 152 Idaho 280, 289 (2012) (Participation in pre-litigation screening panel was not relevant to good cause inquiry); *Campbell v. Reagan*, 144 Idaho 254, 257 (2007) (Defendant's receipt of a mailed copy of process and defendant proceeding as if he had been formally served does not create good cause for failure to timely serve defendant); *Martin v. Hoblit*, 133 Idaho 372, 377 (1999) (Settlement negotiations during the six-month time period does not excuse or constitute good cause for failure to timely serve defendant).

Ms. Hansen raised a number of facts that fall within this category of irrelevant information.

Ms. Walker suggested that she had conversations with Mr. White's insurer, who informed her that they had received a copy of the complaint. There was also an argument made that Mr. White knew about the complaint because Ms. Hansen had a process server leave a copy of the complaint with his son and daughter-in-law. Ms. Hansen has also emphasized an improper attempt to serve by publication. Based upon the rulings of the Supreme Court, none of these facts should be considered in this Court's review of the totality of the circumstances, because they have been determined to be irrelevant.

Based upon the evidence and past precedents, the District Court's ruling dismissing Ms. Hansen's complaint for failure of service should be upheld due to Ms. Hansen's failure to show good cause for not serving Mr. White.

- c) The Reporting Statutes Cited by Ms. Hansen do not Change the Requirements for Due Process under IRCP 4(d)(1) or Excuse Ms. Hansen's Lack of Due Diligence
- (i) Ms. Hansen has failed to provide any reasoning for this Court to alter the requirements or plain meaning of IRCP 4(d)(1)

The evidence shows that during the relevant six month period Mr. White's dwelling or usual place of abode was 3640 Hickory in Idaho Falls or for a short time at 1402 Sea Pines Street,

Mesquite, Nevada. Ms. Hansen attempts to argue that certain statutes requiring classes of individuals to report their addresses to governmental entities changes the requirements of IRCP 4(d)(1). Appellant's Brief at 7-9. Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 4(d)(1) requires that service be had on the individual or left at the individual's "dwelling or usual place of abode". Ms. Hansen would attempt to change these requirements by allowing proper service to consist of leaving process at an old address that at some past date had been reported as the individual's address to a governmental entity. This would change the meaning of the requirements of IRCP 4(d)(1)(B).

The Idaho Supreme Court in the case *Davidson v. Davidson*, 150 Idaho 455, 248 P.3d 242 (2011), rejected a similar attempt to change the requirements of IRCP 4(d)(1)(B).

In *Davidson*, the plaintiff had attempted service by leaving the summons and complaint at the defendant's law office. *Davidson*, 150 Idaho at 459, 248 P.3d at 246. Plaintiff's argument that service was proper was that defendant had at times accepted service at his law office and that defendant had used his law office address in court filings. *Id.* The Supreme Court, agreeing with the district court, held that defendant's prior actions in accepting service at the law office or his putting his law office address on court pleadings did not change the requirements of IRCP 4(d)(1). *Davidson*, 150 Idaho at 459-460, 248 P.3d at 246-247.

Similarly, in the present case, Ms. Hansen, without citing any authority for the proposition, is attempting to argue that prior addresses given to governmental agencies should be considered present dwelling places for potential defendants. Such a finding would radically alter the plain language of Rule 4(d)(1)(B). "Statutory interpretation begins with the statute's plain meaning. State v. Burnight, 132 Idaho 654, 659, 978 P.2d 214, 219 (1999). That language 'is to be given

its plain, obvious and rational meaning.' *Id.*" *Bright v. Maznik*, 162 Idaho 311, 314, 396 P.3d 1193, 1196 (2017). The plain definition of "dwelling or usual place of abode" is the current place where someone resides. Ms. Hansen is attempting to expand the plain language to include all addresses previously reported to governmental agencies that had not been corrected upon a person moving from that address. Such an interpretation would require completely ignoring the plain meaning of the words of IRCP 4(d)(1)(B).

Ms. Hansen has not cited any authority for the position that this Court should abandon the plain meaning of IRCP 4(d)(1)(B) or otherwise alter the requirements of that Rule. Appellant's brief did include a citation to Ghallagher v. Best Western Cottontree Inn Snake River Petersen Properties, LLC, Idaho Supreme Court Docket 43695, 2017 Opinion 1 (See Addendum A). This opinion has not been published and a copy was not provided with Appellant's Brief. In reviewing the case on the Idaho Supreme Court's website, the facts and holding are not relevant to the present matter. In Ghallagher, the Court was examining whether the defendant's failure to file a certificate of assumed business name allowed plaintiff to serve defendant an amended complaint past the statute of limitation date and have it relate back to the filing of the original complaint. *Id.* at 4. The Idaho Supreme Court held that the amended complaint did not relate back and that the statute of limitation was not "tolled." Id. at 5. Instead, the Idaho Supreme Court recognized that plaintiff had a cause of action under I.C. 53-509(2), which could still be brought in order to obtain relief for defendant's alleged failure to file a certificate of assumed business name. Therefore, the matter was remanded to the district court to allow a motion to amend the complaint to include a claim under I.C. § 53-509(2). *Id.* at 6.

Nothing in the Court's opinion in *Ghallagher* addressed the issues in the present case. The subject of the present case is Ms. Hansen's failure to timely serve within the six month period as

required by IRCP 4(b). This case does not involve a statute of limitation, relation back doctrine or requirements and penalties for persons filing a certificate of assumed business name. Ms. Hansen's attempt to compare the *Ghallagher* decision to the present case is disingenuous. The futility of making a meaningful comparison is shown by Ms. Hansen's failure to accurately quote the text of the decision in the Appellant's Brief while attempting to compare it to the present matter.

Appellant's Brief at 12 and 13. In short, the facts, the law and the analysis in *Ghallagher* are so different from the present case that there is no precedential or persuasive value in attempting to compare the two matters.

Based upon the facts and law, Mr. White's dwelling or abode during the relevant six month time period was, 3640 Hickory, Idaho Falls, Idaho, from April 2016 to October 25, 2016, and then 1402 Sea Pines Street, Mesquite, Nevada. The evidence and law do not support a finding of any other dwelling or abode for Mr. White during the relevant six months.

(ii) The Existence of the Statutes Cited by Ms. Hansen does not Provide Good

Cause for Her Failure to Serve Mr. White within the Relevant Six Month Period

Ms. Hansen cites the requirements of I.C. §§ 49-320; 49-401(B)(5); 49-421; and 18-5413 in order to excuse her lack of diligence in attempting to serve Mr. White. The existence of these statutes does not provide an excuse for a plaintiff to wait over five months before attempting to serve process on a defendant and then afterword, failing to make diligent attempts to serve the defendant.

These statutes also existed at the time of the *Hincks* case in which the Idaho Supreme Court did not find that having a different address on the police report was an excuse for failure of service. *Hincks v. Neilson*, 137 Idaho 610, 611, 51 P.3d 424, 425 (2002). It is also very significant that the requirements of the statutes cited by Ms. Hansen would not have made a difference in Ms. Hansen's failure to serve Mr. White because (a) Mr. White did not violate any of the statutes and (b) if the governmental agencies had Mr. White's current address Ms. Hansen would not have known about it due to her failure to search those sources.

During the time period for service of process in this matter, Defendant was not in violation of any of the statutes cited by Ms. Hansen.

The first statue cited is I.C. § 49-320 which states:

It is the responsibility of every licensed driver and every person applying for a driver's license to keep a current address on file with the department.

- (1) Whenever any person after applying for or receiving a driver's license shall move from the address shown in the application or in the driver's license issued, that person shall, within thirty (30) days, notify the department in writing of the old and new addresses.
- (2) Whenever any statute or rule requires a driver to receive notice of any official action with regard to the person's driver's license or driving privileges taken or proposed by a court or the department, notification by first class mail at the address shown on the application for a driver's license or at the address shown on the driver's license or at the address given by the driver, shall constitute all the legal notice that is required.
- (3) It is an infraction for any person to fail to notify the department of a change of address as required by the provisions of subsection (1) of this section.

Mr. White had stopped driving at the time Ms. Hansen filed her complaint and did not renew his license. R. pp. 121-122. Therefore, Mr. White had no obligation under this particular statute.

The next statutes are I.C. §§ 49-401(B)(5) and 49-421. These statutes relate to vehicle registration. The evidence shows that Mr. White was not using a vehicle during the relevant time period as he was no longer driving for medical reasons. R. pp. 121-22. Further, Ms. Hansen's investigator found that the only vehicle currently registered to Mr. White was in possession and ownership of his ex-wife. R. p. 146.

The final statute cited is I.C. § 18-5413 which states that:

(1) A person is guilty of a misdemeanor if he knowingly gives or causes to be given false information to any law enforcement officer, any state or local government or personnel, or to any person licensed in this state to practice social work, psychology or counseling, concerning the commission of an offense, knowing that the offense did not occur or knowing that he has no information relating to the offense or danger.

Ms. Hansen has provided no evidence that Mr. White violated I.C. § 18-5413. Mr. White stated that the officer in this investigation asked him for his driver's license. R. pp. 121-122. Mr. White did not knowingly give false information relating to the commission of an offense, but willingly handed the police officer the documents requested. The police officer stated that he may have just recorded the address information off of the documents provided. R. p. 34. There is no evidence that Mr. White knew or realized that the driver's license would cause the officer to record the incorrect address.

Most importantly, the issue regarding Mr. White's compliance with these statutes is irrelevant due to the fact that Ms. Hansen did nothing to research the addresses the DMV or other governmental agencies had on file for Mr. White during the six month time period. Even if one of the governmental agencies had Mr. White's address of 3640 Hickory Street listed, neither Ms. Hansen nor her representatives would have had that information until months after the six month time limit for service had expired. This evidence simply highlights Ms. Hansen's lack of any diligence in attempting to serve Mr. White. There is nothing in the cited statutes that relieves a party's burden to diligently attempt service in the six months provided.

Ms. Hansen's argument is advocating for the position that if a defendant has an incorrect address on file with the DMV or other agency at any time, then that one fact is good cause for a plaintiff to sit back and do little or nothing in attempting to serve defendant during the six months provided for service. The plaintiff would be able to show after the six months had expired that there was an incorrect address on file somewhere and would automatically be relieved from their

obligation to be diligent. The case law cited above shows that the Idaho Supreme Court has rejected that approach over and over again. The Court has uniformly held party's with the obligation of service to a high standard of diligence.

The totality of evidence in this matter shows that Ms. Hansen was not diligent in attempting to serve Mr. White and that there were no circumstances outside of Ms. Hansen's control that would have prevented service of Mr. White had Ms. Hansen acted diligently.

B) Ms. Hansen Should not be Allowed to Raise Arguments for the First Time on Appeal

The Idaho Supreme Court has held that the Supreme Court, "will not consider issues that are raised for the first time on appeal." *Bell v. Idaho Dept. of Labor*, 157 Idaho 744, 749, 339 P.3d 1148, 1153 (2014) (citing: *Sadid v. Idaho State Univ.*, 151 Idaho 932, 941, 265 P.3d 1144, 1153 (2011)).

Ms. Hansen attempts for the first time on appeal to make an argument regarding equitable estoppel. Appellant's Brief at 14-15. Ms. Hansen did not make any argument of equitable estoppel in the proceedings in front of the District Court. The record is completely devoid of any argument regarding equitable estoppel. Therefore, this claim should be dismissed.

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